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Pleadings: Appeal and Error. An appellate court reviews de novo a lower court’s
dismissal of a complaint for failure to state a claim.

____. When analyzing a lower court’s dismissal of a complaint for failure to
state a claim, an appellate court accepts the complaint’s factual allegations as true
and construes them in the light most favorable to the plaintiff.

Statutes: Judgments: Appeal and Error. The meaning of a statute is a question
of law. When reviewing questions of law, an appellate court has an obligation to
resolve the questions independently of the conclusion reached by the trial court.
Workers” Compensation: Jurisdiction: Statutes. As a statutorily created court,
the Workers’” Compensation Court is a tribunal of limited and special jurisdiction
and has only such authority as has been conferred on it by statute.

Statutes: Appeal and Error. Statutory language is to be given its plain and ordi-
nary meaning. An appellate court will not resort to interpretation to ascertain the
meaning of statutory words which are plain, direct, and unambiguous.

Statutes. A court must attempt to give effect to all parts of a statute, and if it
can be avoided, no word, clause, or sentence will be rejected as superfluous or
meaningless.

Workers’ Compensation: Proof. A compensable injury caused by an occupational
disease must involve some physical stimulus constituting violence to the physical
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Heavican, C.J., WRIGHT, CoNNOLLY, GERRARD, STEPHAN,
McCorMACK, and MILLER-LERMAN, JJ.

STEPHAN, J.

The issue presented in this appeal is whether a work-related
injury caused by a mental stimulus is compensable under the
Nebraska Workers’ Compensation Act, Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 48-101
to 48-1,117 (Reissue 1998 & Cum. Supp. 2002). Based upon
long-established precedent, we conclude that it is not.

BACKGROUND

Trooper Mark Zach of the Nebraska State Patrol died on
September 27, 2002, as the result of a self-inflicted gunshot
wound. His surviving spouse and children, whom we shall refer
to as “claimants,” brought this action for death benefits under the
Nebraska Workers’ Compensation Act. Claimants alleged that
while on patrol in Madison County, Nebraska, approximately 2
weeks prior to his death, Zach stopped several persons and dis-
covered that one of them was armed with a pistol. Zach commu-
nicated the serial number of the weapon to a dispatcher, but due
to a miscommunication or error, the weapon was not at that time
identified as stolen. Claimants alleged that the weapon and two
of the individuals stopped by Zach were subsequently involved in
a bank robbery in Norfolk, Nebraska, which resulted in multiple
fatalities. Claimants alleged that on the day following the robbery,
Zach was advised by State Patrol officials that two of the persons
he had stopped were involved in the bank robbery; that weapons
taken during a previous burglary were used in the robbery; and
that due to a miscommunication at the time of the stop, there had
been a failure to identify the pistol used in the robbery as one of
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the weapons involved in the previous burglary. Claimants alleged
that upon learning this, Zach felt responsible and became very
distraught. In support of their claim for workers’ compensation
benefits, claimants alleged:

6. [Claimants’] decedent suffered an “accident” result-
ing in a “personal injury” inasmuch as the sudden stimulus
(i.e., being advised of the consequences of an error) caused
Zach’s brain to undergo physical changes which, in turn, led
Zach to a state of mind which overroad [sic] his will to the
extent that even knowledge of the consequences of the act of
suicide did not prevent Zach from taking his own life.

7. That [claimants’] decedent suffered an “occupational
disease” inasmuch as the exposure to the stress of his employ-
ment resulted in an identifiable mental disease which disease,
in turn, led Zach to a state of mind which overrode his will
to the extent that even knowledge of the consequences of the
act of suicide did not prevent Zach from taking his own life;
that the stress put upon Zach which led to his mental disease
is due to causes and conditions which are characteristic of
and peculiar to law enforcement inasmuch as law enforce-
ment officers are repeatedly charged with the community’s
safety, repeatedly exposed to stressful situations and suffer
a peculiar and extreme degree of stress when faced with the
fatal consequences of their law enforcement activities.

The trial judge of the workers’ compensation court granted the
Nebraska State Patrol’s motion to dismiss, concluding that claim-
ants had failed to state a claim upon which relief could be granted.
The judge interpreted our decisions as requiring some physical
stimulus before work-related mental stress can be a compensable
injury, as the result of either an accident or an occupational disease.
The judge concluded as a matter of law that “the mere talking or
being informed of a problem does not rise to the level of violence
to the physical structure of the body” as required by § 48-151(4)
and our decision in Bekelski v. Neal Co., 141 Neb. 657, 4 N.W.2d
741 (1942). A review panel of the workers’ compensation court
reversed, and remanded the case for trial, interpreting our opinion
in Tarvin v. Mutual of Omaha Ins. Co., 238 Neb. 851, 472 N.-W.2d
727 (1991), to require trial of any workers’ compensation claim
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alleging physical changes to the brain. The Nebraska State Patrol
appealed.

In a two-to-one opinion, the Nebraska Court of Appeals
affirmed. Zach v. Nebraska State Patrol, 14 Neb. App. 579, 710
N.W.2d 877 (2006). The majority agreed with the review panel’s
interpretation of Tarvin. The dissent did not read Tarvin to hold
that a biochemical alteration of the brain constitutes violence
to the physical structure of the body within the meaning of the
Nebraska Workers’ Compensation Act. The dissent reasoned that
the Legislature’s use of the phrase “‘violence to the physical
structure of the body’” in § 48-151(4) required “more than mere
physical change to establish a compensable injury.” Zach, 14 Neb.
App. at 590, 710 N.W.2d at 885.

We granted the petition for further review filed by the Nebraska
State Patrol.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The Nebraska State Patrol assigns, restated, that the Court
of Appeals (1) erred as a matter of law by expanding the cov-
erage of the Nebraska Workers’ Compensation Act beyond that
intended by the Legislature when it presumed that being advised
of the consequences of an error at work constituted an “accident”
and (2) erred in interpreting Tarvin, supra, or if the interpretation
was correct, that Tarvin is inconsistent with previous holdings of
this court.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

[1,2] An appellate court reviews de novo a lower court’s dis-
missal of a complaint for failure to state a claim. Johnston v.
Nebraska Dept. of Corr. Servs., 270 Neb. 987, 709 N.W.2d 321
(2006). When analyzing a lower court’s dismissal of a complaint
for failure to state a claim, an appellate court accepts the com-
plaint’s factual allegations as true and construes them in the light
most favorable to the plaintiff. /d.

[3] The meaning of a statute is a question of law. Bohaboj v.
Rausch, 272 Neb. 394, 721 N.W.2d 655 (2006); Turco v. Schuning,
271 Neb. 770, 716 N.W.2d 415 (2006). When reviewing ques-
tions of law, an appellate court has an obligation to resolve the
questions independently of the conclusion reached by the trial
court. /d.
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ANALYSIS

STATUTORY PRINCIPLES AND DEFINITIONS
[4] As a statutorily created court, the Workers” Compensation
Court is a tribunal of limited and special jurisdiction and has only
such authority as has been conferred on it by statute. Foster v.
BryanLGH Med. Ctr. East, 272 Neb. 918, 725 N.W.2d 839 (2007);
Hagelstein v. Swift-Eckrich, 257 Neb. 312, 597 N.W.2d 394 (1999).
In reviewing a judgment of that court, we are likewise constrained
by the definitions and concepts of liability which the Legislature
has articulated in the Nebraska Workers’ Compensation Act. We
therefore begin with the statutory principles and definitions appli-
cable to this case.
The basic principle of workers’ compensation is stated in
§ 48-101:
When personal injury is caused to an employee by acci-
dent or occupational disease, arising out of and in the course
of his or her employment, such employee shall receive com-
pensation therefor from his or her employer if the employee
was not willfully negligent at the time of receiving such
injury.
Key terms used in this principle are specifically defined by the
Nebraska Workers” Compensation Act. “Accident means an unex-
pected or unforeseen injury happening suddenly and violently,
with or without human fault, and producing at the time objec-
tive symptoms of an injury.” § 48-151(2). “Occupational disease
means only a disease which is due to causes and conditions which
are characteristic of and peculiar to a particular trade . . . and
excludes all ordinary diseases of life to which the general public
is exposed.” § 48-151(3).

Injury and personal injuries mean only violence to the physi-

cal structure of the body and such disease or infection as

naturally results therefrom. The terms include disablement

resulting from occupational disease arising out of and in

the course of the employment in which the employee was

engaged and which was contracted in such employment.
§ 48-151(4).

The fact that suicide is alleged as the immediate cause of

Zach’s death does not bar the claim because it is also alleged that
Zach experienced physical changes in his brain which overrode
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his will to the extent that even knowledge of the consequences of
the act of suicide did not prevent it. See Friedeman v. State, 215
Neb. 413, 339 N.W.2d 67 (1983). The critical query is whether
such changes and the resulting fatal consequence can constitute
a compensable injury under either an “accident” or an “occupa-
tional disease” theory, in view of the allegation that they were
caused by a mental stimulus, i.e., being advised of the conse-
quences of a work-related error.

DoEs OPERATIVE PETITION ALLEGE COMPENSABLE INJURY
RESULTING FROM ACCIDENT?

Both the review panel and the Court of Appeals concluded
that the operative petition stated a workers’ compensation claim
based upon accidental injury. This court first addressed the issue
of compensability of an accidental injury resulting from a men-
tal stimulus in Bekelski v. Neal Co., 141 Neb. 657, 4 N.W.2d 741
(1942). In that case, an elevator operator witnessed the accidental
death of a passenger who was caught between the elevator floor
and a floor of the building. Although the operator suffered no
physical injury, she experienced extreme emotional shock imme-
diately after the accident and was hospitalized for several days
due to elevated heart rate and blood pressure. For some time
after the incident, she suffered head and back pain. In address-
ing the operator’s accidental injury claim, this court determined
that the elevator malfunction was an unexpected and unforeseen
event which happened suddenly and violently, producing objec-
tive symptoms of injury including elevated heart rate and blood
pressure. We then addressed the “more perplexing problem” of
whether there was violence to the physical structure of the oper-
ator’s body, as required by the Nebraska Workers’” Compensation
Act. Bekelski, 141 Neb. at 659, 4 N.W.2d at 743. The court framed
the issue as whether “disabling shock and nervousness, when
unaccompanied by an impairment of the physical structure of the
body, is compensable under our compensation law.” Id. Resolving
this question in the negative, the court reasoned:

It seems to us that the legislature required, not only that
there should be an accident attended by objective symp-
toms arising out of and in the course of the employment,
but that the accident must be accompanied by violence to
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the physical structure of the body. The language indicates a
clear distinction between physical and bodily injury on the
one hand and mental, nervous and psychiatric injury unac-
companied by violence to the physical structure of the body
on the other. The plain import of the words used eliminates
from the operation of the law disabilities resulting from
mental disturbances, nervousness and psychiatric ailments
when violence to the physical structure of the body cannot
be established.
Bekelski, 141 Neb. at 660, 4 N.W.2d at 743. Based on this rationale,
the court concluded that because the elevator operator suffered
no physical injury in the elevator incident, she was not entitled to
workers’ compensation benefits.

The issue of whether a compensable injury may result from a
mental stimulus was next addressed in Sorensen v. City of Omaha,
230 Neb. 286, 430 N.W.2d 696 (1988). There, a firefighter claimed
that he sustained stress-related physical and psychological inju-
ries as a result of a demotion and harassment by his employer. A
physician diagnosed the firefighter’s symptoms, including stom-
ach pain, nausea, vomiting, psychomotor retardation, and rectal
bleeding, and opined that these physical symptoms were related
to job stress. Finding no dispute regarding the fact that mental
rather than physical stimulus caused the injuries, we applied the
reasoning of Bekelski in concluding that the essential element of
violence to the physical structure of the body was not established.
We specifically declined to adopt an approach utilized by other
jurisdictions which holds that a distinct physical injury caused
by a mental stimulus is compensable, noting that this approach
was inconsistent with the Nebraska Workers” Compensation Act
as interpreted and applied in Bekelski. See, also, Dyer v. Hastings
Indus., 252 Neb. 361, 562 N.W.2d 348 (1997) (finding depression
caused by workplace harassment was result of mental rather than
physical stimulus and not compensable as accidental injury).

The critical distinction between mental and physical stimulus
as the basis for a compensable injury is illustrated by Johnston v.
State, 219 Neb. 457, 364 N.W.2d 1 (1985). There, a state employee
patronizing a state cafeteria poured and drank what she believed
to be coffee from a coffee urn. In fact, it was urn cleaner. She was
diagnosed with caustic irritation of the mouth and pharynx, as
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well as superficial injuries to her esophagus. In addition, she expe-
rienced panic attacks, anxiety, and subtle symptoms of depres-
sion. Relying on Bekelski v. Neal Co., 141 Neb. 657, 4 N.W.2d 741
(1942), the State argued that she could not recover workers’ com-
pensation benefits for mental injuries in the absence of a proven
physical injury. While agreeing that this was the applicable legal
rule, we concluded that a physical injury occurred when the
employee ingested the cleaner, and therefore all of her resulting
injuries were compensable.

Tarvin v. Mutual of Omaha Ins. Co., 238 Neb. 851, 472 N.W.2d
727 (1991), did not alter the principle first articulated in Bekelski
and consistently applied by this court. In Tarvin, a worker claimed
disabling depression and anxiety caused by job-related stress and
pressure. Although there was no evidence of trauma, the worker
claimed that he suffered violence to the physical structure of the
body based upon the testimony of a physician that job-related
stress caused the worker’s neurochemical level to become imbal-
anced and prevented normal transmission of messages from his
brain. Another physician testified that job-related stress did not
cause a chemical alteration of the brain and that the employee’s
mental condition and resulting disability were attributable solely
to conditions which preceded his employment. The compensation
court determined that the worker failed to prove a compensable
injury. Applying a “clearly erroneous” standard of review, we con-
cluded that based upon the medical evidence, the compensation
court “in resolving a factual question, could reasonably have con-
cluded, and did conclude, that [the employee] failed to prove that
his condition was caused by employment.” Id. at 857, 472 N.W.2d
at 732. We affirmed on that basis without reaching the issue of
whether the injury would have been compensable if it had been
related to the worker’s employment. Thus, while the issue pre-
sented in this case was raised in Tarvin, it was not decided.

In this case, the allegation that Zach’s brain underwent physi-
cal changes simply identifies objective symptoms of an injury.
There is no allegation that such changes were caused by any phys-
ical stimulus. To the contrary, it is specifically alleged that the
changes to Zach’s brain were caused by “being advised of the con-
sequences of an error,” which is clearly a mental stimulus. Based
upon principles articulated in Bekelski and subsequent cases, an
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injury caused by a mental stimulus does not meet the requirement
in § 48-151(4) that a compensable accidental injury involve “vio-
lence to the physical structure of the body.” Accordingly, the Court
of Appeals and the review panel of the Workers’ Compensation
Court erred in concluding that the operative petition stated a claim
for accidental injury arising out of and in the course and scope of
Zach’s employment with the Nebraska State Patrol.

DoEks OPERATIVE PETITION ALLEGE COMPENSABLE INJURY
RESULTING FrROM OcCUPATIONAL DISEASE?

The trial judge concluded that the underlying condition lead-
ing to Zach’s death was “mental stress” and that “whether it
be deemed from an ‘accident’ or an ‘occupational disease’ [it]
must be accompanied by a prior physical insult to the physical
structure of the body” under Bekelski v. Neal Co., 141 Neb. 657,
4 N.W.2d 741 (1942). Because of its remand, the review panel
found it unnecessary to address the issue of whether “one must
show violence to the physical structure of the body in order to
recover for an occupational disease.” The Court of Appeals did
not specifically address this issue. Because we have concluded
that injury caused by a mental stimulus is not compensable as an
injury caused by accident, we must address the alternative theory
that Zach sustained a compensable injury as a result of an occu-
pational disease. Bekelski did not address this issue because the
case was decided in 1942, and the Legislature did not amend the
compensation act to include occupational disease until 1943. See
1943 Neb. Laws, ch. 113, § 1, p. 397.

The issue turns on the meaning of the first two sentences of
§ 48-151(4). The first sentence provides: “Injury and personal
injuries mean only violence to the physical structure of the body
and such disease or infection as naturally results therefrom.”
Id. The second sentence states: “The terms include disablement
resulting from occupational disease arising out of and in the
course of the employment in which the employee was engaged
and which was contracted in such employment.” Id. The question
is whether both sentences, or only the second, apply to injuries
caused by occupational disease.

[5,6] Statutory language is to be given its plain and ordinary
meaning. An appellate court will not resort to interpretation to
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ascertain the meaning of statutory words which are plain, direct,
and unambiguous. Nebraska Liq. Distrib. v. Nebraska Liq. Cont.
Comm., 272 Neb. 390, 722 N.W.2d 10 (2006); Young v. Midwest
Fam. Mut. Ins. Co., 272 Neb. 385, 722 N.W.2d 13 (2006). A court
must attempt to give effect to all parts of a statute, and if it can
be avoided, no word, clause, or sentence will be rejected as super-
fluous or meaningless. Gilbert & Martha Hitchcock Found. v.
Kountze, 272 Neb. 251, 720 N.W.2d 31 (2006); Salts v. Lancaster
Cty., 269 Neb. 948, 697 N.W.2d 289 (2005). The first sentence
of § 48-151(4) defines the terms “injury” and “personal injuries”
without distinction as to cause, i.e., accident or occupational dis-
ease. The use of the word “only” limits the definition to disease or
infection naturally resulting from violence to the physical struc-
ture of the body. The second sentence refers to the “terms” defined
in the first sentence, i.e., “injury” and “personal injuries,” and
states that they “include disablement resulting from occupational
disease.” The plain meaning of the two sentences, read together,
is that disability due to occupational disease is compensable only
if it results from violence to the physical structure of the body.

Although not presented with the precise issue before us in
this case, we stated in Ludwick v. TriWest Healthcare Alliance,
267 Neb. 887, 894, 678 N.W.2d 517, 523 (2004), that “under the
Nebraska Workers” Compensation Act, an injury has occurred as
the result of an occupational disease when violence has been done
to the physical structure of the body and a disability has resulted.”
We noted, for clarification, that the “concept of disability is the
same in both accident and occupational disease cases.” Ludwick,
267 Neb. at 895, 678 N.W.2d at 524. The cases in which we have
recognized a compensable injury caused by an occupational dis-
ease have involved some type of physical stimulus constituting
violence to the physical structure of the body. See, e.g., Ludwick,
supra (reaction to latex exposure); Morris v. Nebraska Health
System, 266 Neb. 285, 664 N.W.2d 436 (2003) (same); Jorn v. Pigs
Unlimited, Inc., 255 Neb. 876, 587 N.W.2d 558 (1998) (respiratory
dysfunction caused by exposure to hog dust); Berggren v. Grand
Island Accessories, Inc., 249 Neb. 789, 545 N.W.2d 727 (1996)
(seizure disorder caused by exposure to industrial solvents).

[7] We conclude that under current Nebraska law, a compensable
injury caused by an occupational disease must involve some
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physical stimulus constituting violence to the physical structure
of the body. Because the injury in this case is alleged to have
resulted entirely from a mental stimulus, no claim is stated for
injury caused by occupational disease.

PoLicy CONSIDERATIONS

The Nebraska Workers’ Compensation Act is intended to pro-
vide benefits for employees who are injured on the job, and the
terms of the act are to be broadly construed to accomplish its
beneficent purposes. See Vonderschmidt v. Sur-Gro, 262 Neb.
551, 635 N.W.2d 405 (2001). In light of this statutory intent and
purpose, as well as advances in medical knowledge with respect
to the causes of mental illness, a persuasive argument can be
made that work-related injuries such as that alleged in this case
should be compensable. However, that policy decision is not ours
to make.

Nebraska is one of only five states having workers’ compensa-
tion statutes which define compensable injury in terms of violence
to the physical structure of the body. See, Del. Code Ann. tit. 19,
§ 2301(15) (2005) (Delaware); Idaho Code Ann. § 72-102(18)(c)
(2006) (Idaho); La. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 23:1021(8)(a) (Cum. Supp.
2007) (Louisiana); Mo. Ann. Stat § 287.020.3(5) (West Cum.
Supp. 2006) (Missouri). Of these states, both Idaho and Louisiana
allow compensation for injuries caused by mental stimulus, but
their compensation acts contain additional separate and express
provisions governing this subject. See, Idaho Code Ann. § 72-451
(2006); La. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 23:1021(8)(b) through (d) (Cum.
Supp. 2007) (setting forth specific requirements that must be met
for mental injury to be compensable). Nebraska does not have
similar provisions in its compensation act.

We are not persuaded by the holding of the Supreme Court
of Delaware that a disabling work-related mental disorder is
compensable under a statute requiring a showing of violence to
the physical structure of the body, whether or not preceded by a
physical injury. See State v. Cephas, 637 A.2d 20 (Del. 1994). As
this court first noted in Bekelski v. Neal Co., 141 Neb. 657, 660, 4
N.W.2d 741, 743 (1942), the language used in our statute “indicates
a clear distinction between physical and bodily injury on the one
hand and mental, nervous and psychiatric injury unaccompanied
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by violence to the physical structure of the body on the other.” We
conclude here, as we did more than 60 years ago in Bekelski, that
while the Nebraska Workers’ Compensation Act should be con-
strued liberally, “it should not be extended to cases which by plain
language are excluded from its scope.” 141 Neb. at 661, 4 N.W.2d
at 744. Whether to allow compensation for work-related injuries
caused by a mental stimulus is a question that involves economic
and social policy considerations that fall within the province of
the Legislature.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed, we conclude that the Court of Appeals
erred in affirming the judgment of the Workers’ Compensation
Court review panel which reversed the order of dismissal entered
by the trial judge. We therefore reverse the judgment of the Court
of Appeals and remand the cause to that court with directions to
remand the matter to the review panel with directions to affirm

the order of dismissal entered by the trial judge.
REVERSED AND REMANDED WITH DIRECTIONS.

CHRISTOPHER M. PFEIL, APPELLEE, V.
STATE OF NEBRASKA, APPELLANT.
727 N.W.2d 214

Filed February 2, 2007. No. S-05-896.

1. Jurisdiction: Appeal and Error. A jurisdictional question which does not involve
a factual dispute is determined by an appellate court as a matter of law.

2. : . Before reaching the legal issues presented for review, it is the duty
of an appellate court to determine whether it has jurisdiction over the matter
before it.

3. Jurisdiction: Final Orders: Appeal and Error. For an appellate court to acquire
jurisdiction of an appeal, there must be a final order entered by the court from
which the appeal is taken; conversely, an appellate court is without jurisdiction to
entertain appeals from nonfinal orders.

4. Final Orders: Appeal and Error. An order is final for purposes of appeal if it
affects a substantial right and (1) determines the action and prevents a judgment,
(2) is made during a special proceeding, or (3) is made on summary application in
an action after judgment is rendered.

5. Actions: Judgments: Final Orders. For the purposes of Neb. Rev. Stat. § 25-1902
(Reissue 1995), a special proceeding includes every special statutory remedy which
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is not in itself an action. A judgment rendered by the district court that is merely a
step or proceeding within the overall action is not a special proceeding. A special
proceeding which affects a substantial right is, by definition, not part of an action.

6. Actions: Statutes. A special proceeding, within the meaning of Neb. Rev. Stat.
§ 25-1902 (Reissue 1995), entails civil statutory remedies not encompassed in
chapter 25 of the Nebraska Revised Statutes.

Appeal from the District Court for Cedar County: ROBERT V.
BURKHARD, Judge. Appeal dismissed.

Earl G. Greene III, of Pansing, Hogan, Ernst & Bachman,
L.L.P, for appellant.

Terry M. Anderson and Steven M. Lathrop, of Hauptman,
O’Brien, Wolf & Lathrop, P.C., for appellee.

HEeavican, C.J., WRIGHT, CoNNOLLY, GERRARD, STEPHAN,
McCorMACK, and MILLER-LERMAN, JJ.

Heavican, C.J.
INTRODUCTION

Christopher M. Pfeil was injured in an accident with a snow-
plow operated by an employee of the State of Nebraska. Pfeil
brought suit under the State Tort Claims Act (Act), Neb. Rev. Stat.
§§ 81-8,209 to 81-8,235 (Reissue 2003). The State alleged as an
affirmative defense that Pfeil failed to comply with the present-
ment requirements of the Act. The crux of the State’s argument
is that the filing of Pfeil’s suit in district court acted as a with-
drawal of his claim filed on the same day with the State Claims
Board (Board), and as a result, the State was not given its statuto-
rily permitted 6 months to consider Pfeil’s claim. See § 81-8,213.
The district court found Pfeil had complied with the Act. The
State appeals. As an initial matter, we must consider whether this
appeal was taken from a final, appealable order. We conclude that
it was not.

FACTS
Pfeil’s claim arises out of an injury he received as the result of
an accident which occurred on December 16, 2000, during the
course of his employment in Cedar County, Nebraska. Pfeil ulti-
mately filed a claim for workers’ compensation benefits as a result
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of the injuries he incurred. At that time, Pfeil was represented by
counsel, but retained new counsel on December 11, 2002.

On that date, Pfeil’s new counsel contacted a company retained
by the State to investigate and adjust tort claims filed against
the State. The purpose of the communication was to determine
whether a claim had been filed against the State by Pfeil’s initial
counsel on behalf of either Pfeil or his employer. Through a rep-
resentative, the company declined to provide such information,
though the parties stipulated that the existence of such a claim
would have been known to the company.

As a result of the inability to determine whether a claim had
been filed, a claim was filed with the Board on Pfeil’s behalf on
December 12, 2002. On that same date, Pfeil also filed a petition
against the State in the district court. The parties stipulated that if
Pfeil or his counsel were called, each would testify that the claim
and petition were filed on the same day because the deadline for
filing both expired on December 16, 2002, or 2 years after the
accident, see § 81-8,227, and that counsel was unaware of whether
the necessary claim had been filed. The parties also stipulated
that if called, Pfeil or his counsel would testify that the petition
filed in district court was not intended to withdraw the claim filed
before the Board.

On June 23, 2003, Pfeil sent a letter to the Board withdrawing
his claim due to the State’s failure to act upon the claim within
6 months. See § 81-8,213. On June 24, Pfeil filed an amended
petition in the district court. In its answer, the State alleged as its
second affirmative defense that Pfeil failed to comply with the
Act.

Upon Pfeil’s motion, the district court held a separate trial on
the issue of Pfeil’s compliance with the Act. The district court
concluded that Pfeil had complied with the Act, finding that the
petition filed December 12, 2002, was not intended to withdraw
Pfeil’s claim against the State.

On November 13, 2006, this court issued an order to show
cause why this case should not be dismissed for lack of jurisdic-
tion because the district court’s order was not a final, appealable
order. In its response, the State argues that this appeal affects a
substantial right and was made during a special proceeding, and
is thus final.
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ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
On appeal, the State assigns that the district court erred in
determining Pfeil had complied with the Act.

STANDARD OF REVIEW
[1] A jurisdictional question which does not involve a factual
dispute is determined by an appellate court as a matter of law.
New Tek Mfg. v. Beehner, 270 Neb. 264, 702 N.W.2d 336 (2005).

ANALYSIS

[2,3] Before reaching the legal issues presented for review, it is
the duty of an appellate court to determine whether it has juris-
diction over the matter before it. Hallie Mgmt. Co. v. Perry, 272
Neb. 81, 718 N.W.2d 531 (2006). For an appellate court to acquire
jurisdiction of an appeal, there must be a final order entered by
the court from which the appeal is taken; conversely, an appellate
court is without jurisdiction to entertain appeals from nonfinal
orders. Id.

[4] An order is final for purposes of appeal if it affects a
substantial right and (1) determines the action and prevents a
judgment, (2) is made during a special proceeding, or (3) is made
on summary application in an action after judgment is rendered.
Keef v. State, 262 Neb. 622, 634 N.W.2d 751 (2001). See, also,
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 25-1902 (Reissue 1995).

As an initial matter, we note that the order denying the State’s
affirmative defense did not determine the action or prevent a judg-
ment since the denial of the defense in fact allowed Pfeil’s suit to
continue. In addition, the order was not made on summary appli-
cation in an action after judgment was rendered. See, generally,
Keef v. State, supra. Nor does the State contend that one of these
two categories is applicable. The initial question presented here
is whether the district court’s order was made during a special
proceeding.

Was DistrIcT COURT’S ORDER MADE IN SPECIAL PROCEEDING?

[5,6] For the purposes of § 25-1902, a special proceeding
includes every special statutory remedy which is not in itself an
action. Webb v. American Employers Group, 268 Neb. 473, 684
N.W.2d 33 (2004). A judgment rendered by the district court that
is merely a step or proceeding within the overall action is not a
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special proceeding. Id. A special proceeding which affects a sub-
stantial right is, by definition, not part of an action. Id. Generally,
a “special proceeding,” within the meaning of § 25-1902, entails
civil statutory remedies not encompassed in chapter 25 of the
Nebraska Revised Statutes. Keef v. State, supra. Examples of
special proceedings include juvenile court proceedings, In re
Guardianship of Rebecca B. et al., 260 Neb. 922, 621 N.W.2d 289
(2000); probate actions, In re Estate of Peters, 259 Neb. 154, 609
N.W.2d 23 (2000); and workers’ compensation cases, Thompson
v. Kiewit Constr. Co., 258 Neb. 323, 603 N.W.2d 368 (1999).

The State argues that the district court’s order was made during
a special proceeding because Pfeil’s cause of action arose under
the Act, which is codified in chapter 81 and thus is not encom-
passed in chapter 25 of the Nebraska Revised Statutes.

However, this misapprehends the nature of chapter 81 of the
Nebraska Revised Statutes. The intent of the Act was to waive the
State’s sovereign immunity, thus allowing the State to be sued for
the torts of its officers, agents, or employees. See §§ 81-8,209 and
81-8,215. We recognize that some aspects of chapter 81 could be
identified as resembling a special proceeding. For example, the
Act sets forth presentment and notice requirements with regard to
allowable tort claims. See §§ 81-8,212 and 81-8,213. These require-
ments allow the State the opportunity to consider claims prior to
the institution of suits against it. We conclude, however, that a
reading of the Act as a whole indicates that once suit is instituted,
an action against the State is intended for the most part to be
treated as any other negligence action. This intent is expressed in
§ 81-8,216, which provides that the district courts shall follow the
rules of civil procedure applicable to private litigants in actions
against the State. The denial of an affirmative defense would be
treated as interlocutory and, as such, not final in such instances.
See, generally, Keef v. State, supra.

In this case, Pfeil has alleged a negligence cause of action
against the State. Beyond the presentment and notice condi-
tion precedents set forth in chapter 81, Pfeil’s tort action against
the State follows the procedures set forth in chapter 25 of the
Nebraska Revised Statutes. We therefore conclude that Pfeil’s
action is encompassed by chapter 25, and the district court’s order
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denying the State’s affirmative defense was not made in a special
proceeding.

Having concluded that the district court’s order was not made
during a special proceeding, we conclude that the State’s appeal
was not from a final, appealable order. As such, this court lacks
jurisdiction to consider this appeal.

CONCLUSION
Based on the foregoing reasons, we dismiss the appeal for lack
of jurisdiction.
APPEAL DISMISSED.

PauL D. STEWART AND BEVERLY A. STEWART, APPELLEES, V.
DARLENE A. BENNETT, TRUSTEE OF THE DARLENE A.
BENNETT REVOCABLE TRUST, APPELLANT.

727 NW.2d 424

Filed February 2, 2007. No. S-05-1100.

1.  Supreme Court: Appeal and Error. On questions of law, the Nebraska Supreme
Court is obligated to reach a conclusion independent of the decision by the trial
court.

2. Contracts: Waiver. It is axiomatic that a party cannot waive the invalidity of a
contractual provision by entering into a contract containing such a provision.

3. Estoppel. The doctrine of judicial estoppel holds that one who has successfully and
unequivocally asserted a position in a prior proceeding is estopped from asserting
an inconsistent position in a subsequent proceeding.

4. ____. Absent judicial acceptance of the inconsistent position, the application
of the rule of judicial estoppel is unwarranted because no risk of inconsistent
results exists.

5. Pleadings. A party cannot judicially admit conclusions of law in the pleadings
because the pleadings admit only facts.

6. Contracts: Attorney Fees: Public Policy. In the absence of a uniform course of
procedure or authorization by statute, contractual agreements for attorney fees are
against public policy and will not be judicially enforced.

7. Contracts: Public Policy. Public policy presents the principles under which the
freedom of contract or private dealings are restricted by law for the good of the
community.

8. Statutes: Legislature: Presumptions. The Legislature is presumed to know the
general condition surrounding the subject matter of the legislative enactment, and
it is presumed to know and contemplate the legal effect that accompanies the lan-
guage it employs to make effective the legislation.
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9. Legislature: Attorney Fees: Public Policy. In enacting Neb. Rev. Stat. § 25-824
(Reissue 1995), the Legislature has made a statement of public policy against
granting attorney fees in actions that are not frivolous.

Appeal from the District Court for Dixon County: PaTrIcK G.
RocERs, Judge. Affirmed.

Lance D. Ehmcke, Joel D. Vos, and Jeremy J. Cross, of Heidman,
Redmond, Fredregill, Patterson, Plaza, Dykstra & Prahl, L.L.P.,
for appellant.

Thomas A. Fitch, of Fitch Law Office, for appellees.

HeavicaNn, C.J., WRIGHT, CoNNOLLY, GERRARD, STEPHAN,
McCormack, and MILLER-LERMAN, JJ.

McCorMAcK, J.

BACKGROUND

This case presents an action originally brought by Paul D.
Stewart and Beverly A. Stewart to establish a holdover tenancy
under the terms and conditions of an expired lease agreement
with the landowner, Darlene A. Bennett, trustee of the Darlene A.
Bennett Revocable Trust. Bennett denied the existence of a hold-
over tenancy and asserted that any rule of law establishing a hold-
over tenancy in this case would be an unconstitutional taking of
property without due process. Bennett counterclaimed for liqui-
dated damages as specified in the lease for failure to relinquish
possession.

The district court found that under the undisputed facts pre-
sented, no holdover tenancy was created. Accordingly, the dis-
trict court granted Bennett’s motion for summary judgment and
dismissed the Stewarts’ petition against Bennett. The Stewarts
do not appeal the determination that there was no creation of a
holdover tenancy, and that issue is not before us in this appeal.

Both parties originally sought attorney fees under paragraph 26
of the lease, which stated that if either party files suit to enforce
the terms of the lease, the prevailing party shall be entitled to
recover court costs and reasonable attorney fees. After the dis-
trict court dismissed the Stewarts’ petition, but before ruling on
Bennett’s counterclaim, the Stewarts challenged the validity of
the attorney fee provision. Bennett responded that the Stewarts
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were barred from asserting that the attorney fee provision was
against public policy, since they were the first party to ask for
attorney fees under the provision. Bennett also alleged that any
jurisprudence determining such provision to be against public
policy was unconstitutional.

Citing Parkert v. Lindquist, 269 Neb. 394, 693 N.W.2d 529
(2005), and the cases discussed therein, the district court denied
attorney fees. The court overruled Bennett’s constitutional chal-
lenge to holdover tenancy law, explaining that because it deter-
mined that there was no holdover tenancy, the issue was moot. The
court did not specifically address Bennett’s argument that the rule
recognized in Parkert was unconstitutional. Bennett appeals.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Bennett asserts that the district court erred in (1) finding that
Bennett was not entitled to attorney fees under paragraph 26 of
the lease agreement, (2) failing to rule that the judicially created
public policy against awarding attorney fees provided for in a con-
tractual provision violates the separation of powers clause of the
Nebraska Constitution, and (3) failing to rule that the judicially
created notice requirement to terminate farm tenancies violates
the separation of powers clause of the Nebraska Constitution.

STANDARD OF REVIEW
[1] This case presents questions of law, upon which the Nebraska
Supreme Court is obligated to reach a conclusion independent of

the decision by the trial court. See Stewart v. Advanced Gaming
Tech., 272 Neb. 471, 723 N.W.2d 65 (2006).

ANALYSIS

The sole issue in this appeal is whether the district court erred
in failing to grant attorney fees to Bennett. Bennett asks us to
revisit our previously established rule that a contractual provi-
sion for attorney fees, where such fees are not provided by stat-
ute or uniform course of procedure, is against public policy
and will not be judicially enforced. See Parkert v. Lindquist,
supra. Alternatively, Bennett asserts that some form of equitable
defenses, i.e., the doctrines of unclean hands, waiver, and estop-
pel, should operate to preclude recognition of the voidness of the
fee provision in this case. She reasons that the Stewarts were the
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first to request fees in their unsuccessful petition against Bennett
and because the Stewarts had signed the lease with the fee pro-
vision. Finally, Bennett seeks a declaration that our case law on
holdover tenancies is unconstitutional. Although no such tenancy
was found in this case, Bennett asserts that the issue should be
addressed under an exception to the mootness doctrine.

We decline to overrule the line of cases which clearly hold that
the attorney fee provision at issue in this case is invalid. Because
it is uncontested that no holdover tenancy was created, we will
not address Bennett’s attacks on the constitutionality of holdover
tenancy jurisprudence.

DocTRrINES OF UNCLEAN HANDS, WAIVER, AND ESTOPPEL

Bennett first asserts various equitable defenses which Bennett
argues preclude the Stewarts from benefiting from any public pol-
icy invalidation of the attorney fee provision. Bennett is unable to
cite any case law directly applicable to this point. Rather, Bennett
relies on generalized references to the doctrines of unclean hands,
waiver, and estoppel to argue that because the Stewarts signed the
lease agreement with the attorney fee provision and also because
they requested such fees in their original petition, they could not
later assert that the attorney fee provision was void as against
public policy.

[2] The doctrines of unclean hands, waiver, and estoppel clearly
do not apply to the Stewarts’ claim that the attorney fee provision
is invalid. First, it is axiomatic that a party cannot waive the inva-
lidity of a contractual provision by entering into a contract con-
taining such a provision. As to the idea that by asking the court for
fees under the provision, equity precludes the Stewarts from later
denying the validity of the provision, we first note that the under-
lying claim is an action at law in which some of these equitable
defenses simply do not apply. See, Mason v. City of Lincoln, 266
Neb. 399, 665 N.W.2d 600 (2003); Buckingham v. Wray, 219 Neb.
807, 366 N.W.2d 753 (1985). In any case, there is no evidence that
the Stewarts acted inequitably, unfairly, or dishonestly in their ini-
tial claim for attorney fees. See, e.g., Manker v. Manker, 263 Neb.
944, 644 N.W.2d 522 (2002). There is not any evidence that the
Stewarts gained any benefit from their unsuccessful claim under
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the attorney fee provision or that Bennett detrimentally relied on
the Stewarts’ prior claim.

[3] Closer to the point is Bennett’s assertion of the doctrine
of judicial estoppel, which holds that one who has successfully
and unequivocally asserted a position in a prior proceeding is
estopped from asserting an inconsistent position in a subsequent
proceeding. Vowers & Sons, Inc. v. Strasheim, 254 Neb. 506, 576
N.W.2d 817 (1998). The doctrine protects the integrity of the judi-
cial process by preventing a party from taking a position inconsis-
tent with one successfully and unequivocally asserted by the same
party in a prior proceeding. Id.

[4] However, the doctrine of judicial estoppel does not apply in
this case because the district court never accepted the claim that
the attorney fee provision was applicable. ““‘Absent judicial accep-
tance of the inconsistent position, application of the rule is unwar-
ranted because no risk of inconsistent results exists.”” Vowers &
Sons, Inc. v. Strasheim, 254 Neb. at 514, 576 N.W.2d at 824.

[5] This court has said that a party will be bound by allegations
in the pleadings and cannot subsequently take a position incon-
sistent thereto, as such allegations are judicial admissions. See,
Jorgensen v. State Nat. Bank & Trust, 255 Neb. 241, 583 N.W.2d
331 (1998); Ryder Truck Rental v. Transportation Equip. Co., 215
Neb. 458, 339 N.W.2d 283 (1983). But we have clarified that a
party cannot judicially admit conclusions of law in the pleadings
because the pleadings admit only facts. See Jorgensen, supra.
The Stewarts’ implicit allegation that the attorney fee provision
was valid was a conclusion of law.

“AMERICAN RULE”

Having concluded that the Stewarts are not estopped from
asserting that the attorney fee provision at issue is invalid as
against public policy, we next address Bennett’s argument that we
should overrule our cases on this point. Bennett argues that our
determination that attorney fee provisions violate public policy in
the absence of a uniform course of procedure or statutory autho-
rization is representative of a minority view of what exceptions
apply to the so-called American rule, and he urges us to recon-
sider. Bennett also asserts that our failure to except privately con-
tracted fee provisions is a judicial declaration of public policy that
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encroaches on the exclusive powers of the Legislature to make
public policy determinations and that our American rule jurispru-
dence therefore violates separation of powers.

The “American rule” stands generally for the proposition that
“a prevailing party may not also recover an attorney fee from his
opponent.” Holt County Co-op Assn. v. Corkle’s, Inc., 214 Neb.
762, 767, 336 N.W.2d 312, 315 (1983). The justification for this
general rule is that “a defendant should not be unduly influenced
from vigorously contesting claims made against him.” Id. See,
also, 20 Am. Jur. 2d Costs § 55 (2005) (purpose of American
rule requiring each party to bear own costs in litigation is to avoid
stifling legitimate litigation by threat of specter of burdensome
expenses being imposed on unsuccessful party).

There are exceptions to the American rule, and these excep-
tions vary from state to state. All states create an exception to
the general rule in cases where the legislature has expressly allo-
cated those fees to the winning party. Most jurisdictions, includ-
ing Nebraska, also have an exception to the American rule where
attorney fees are granted pursuant to the court’s inherent authority
to do all things necessary for the proper administration of justice
and equity within the scope of their jurisdiction. See, Holt County
Co-op Assn., supra; Mangiante v. Niemiec, 98 Conn. App. 567,
910 A.2d 235 (2006).

[6] Many jurisdictions have also created an exception where
the attorney fees are provided for through contractual agreement.
This court, however, has repeatedly held that in the absence of
a uniform course of procedure or authorization by statute, con-
tractual agreements for attorney fees are against public policy
and will not be judicially enforced. See, Parkert v. Lindquist,
269 Neb. 394, 693 N.W.2d 529 (2005); Nebraska Nutrients v.
Shepherd, 261 Neb. 723, 626 N.-W.2d 472 (2001); GFH Financial
Serv. Corp. v. Kirk, 231 Neb. 557, 437 N.W.2d 453 (1989); First
Nat. Bank v. Schroeder, 218 Neb. 397, 355 N.W.2d 780 (1984);
Quinn v. Godfather’s Investments, 217 Neb. 441, 348 N.W.2d 893
(1984); City of Gering v. Smith Co., 215 Neb. 174, 337 N.W.2d
747 (1983).

[7] Public policy is that principle of the law which holds that no
subject can lawfully do that which has a tendency to be injurious
to the public or against the public good. Public policy presents the
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principles under which the freedom of contract or private deal-
ings are restricted by law for the good of the community. See
Hood v. AAA Motor Club Ins. Assn., 259 Neb. 63, 607 N.W.2d
814 (2000).

[8,9] It is the Legislature’s function through the enactment of
statutes to declare what is the law and public policy. Myers v.
Nebraska Invest. Council, 272 Neb. 669, 724 N.W.2d 776 (2006).
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 25-824 (Reissue 1995) provides for attorney fees
to the prevailing party when the court determines that the under-
lying action was brought in bad faith. The Legislature, in enacting
this statute, was presumably aware of our understanding of the
American rule and the exceptions to that rule in our state. See, In
re Guardianship of Rebecca B. et al., 260 Neb. 922, 621 N.W.2d
289 (2000); State v. Schnabel, 260 Neb. 618, 618 N.-W.2d 699
(2000). The Legislature is presumed to know the general condi-
tion surrounding the subject matter of the legislative enactment,
and it is presumed to know and contemplate the legal effect that
accompanies the language it employs to make effective the leg-
islation. Ludwig v. Board of County Commissioners, 170 Neb.
600, 103 N.W.2d 838 (1960). By implication, in § 25-824, the
Legislature has made a statement of public policy against grant-
ing attorney fees in actions that are not frivolous.

Having found that the public policy relevant to this case was
embodied by an expression of the Legislature, we can find no merit
to Bennett’s argument that our case law recognizing this public
policy violated the alleged exclusive realm of the Legislature to
determine public policy questions. We decline to reconsider our
case law on this issue.

CONVERSION TO YEAR-TO-YEAR TENANCY

In Bennett’s third assignment of error, Bennett complains that
the district court did not rule on the constitutionality of case law
establishing the circumstances in which a holdover tenancy can
be established by the conduct of the parties after expiration of the
terms of a lease. See, e.g., Stuthman v. Stuthman, 245 Neb. 846,
515 N.w.2d 781 (1994); Otto v. Hongsermeier Farms, 217 Neb.
45, 348 N.W.2d 422 (1984). The district court did not reach this
issue because it determined that no holdover tenancy had been
established under the facts presented in this case. Finding no error
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in this determination, we need not address the last assignment
of error.

CONCLUSION
We affirm the judgment of the district court.
AFFIRMED.

SusAaN L., APPELLANT, V.
STEVEN L., APPELLEE.
729 N.W.2d 35

Filed February 2, 2007. No. S-06-102.

Judgments: Jurisdiction: Appeal and Error. When a jurisdictional question
does not involve a factual dispute, determination of the issue is a matter of law,
which requires an appellate court to reach a conclusion independent from that of
the trial court.

Child Custody: Kidnapping: Jurisdiction: States. The Convention on the Civil
Aspects of International Child Abduction seeks to establish procedures to ensure a
child’s prompt return to the state of his or her “habitual residence” where removed
or retained therefrom.

. The Convention on the Civil Aspects of International
Chlld Abductlon is applicable to any child “habitually resident” in a contracting
state immediately before any breach of custody or access rights.

: : ____. The Convention on the Civil Aspects of International
Child Abduction does not seek to establish a child’s “habitual residence” as a gen-
eral jurisdictional mandate for custody disputes.

Child Custody: Kidnapping: States. Under the Convention on the Civil Aspects
of International Child Abduction, grave risk of harm is essentially an affirmative
defense to the return of the child.

Child Custody: Kidnapping: Jurisdiction: States. The Convention on the Civil
Aspects of International Child Abduction makes no statement as to the relevancy of
grave risk of harm in deciding jurisdiction or the appropriate forum for resolution
of custody issues involving a child not wrongfully removed or retained.
Constitutional Law: Jurisdiction: Legislature. The jurisdiction of the district
courts conferred by the terms of the Nebraska Constitution, as thus conferred, is
beyond the power of the Legislature to limit or control; while the Legislature may
grant to the district courts such other jurisdiction as it may deem proper, it cannot
limit or take away from such courts their broad and general jurisdiction which the
constitution has conferred upon them.

Constitutional Law: Jurisdiction. The term “jurisdiction,” as used in Neb. Const.
art. V, § 9, denotes the concept of legal power to interpret and administer the law
in the premises.
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9. : . The constitutional grant of jurisdiction to the district court, while
original, is not exclusive.

10. Courts: Jurisdiction. Where courts have concurrent jurisdiction, the first to
assume jurisdiction retains it to the exclusion of the other.

11.  Child Custody: Jurisdiction: Statutes. Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 43-1230 and 43-1240
(Reissue 2004) do not deprive the district court of its broad and general original
jurisdiction over child custody.

12.  Constitutional Law. The fact that the exercise of discretion will not be strictly
homogeneous does create a lack of uniformity in the constitutional sense.

13.  Constitutional Law: Due Process. Due process as required by Neb. Const. art. I,
§ 3, need not take place in Nebraska.

Appeal from the District Court for Lancaster County: PauL D.
MERRITT, Jr., Judge. Affirmed.

Sheri A. Wortman, of McHenry, Haszard, Hansen, Roth &
Hupp, P.C., for appellant.

Christopher A. Furches, of Johnson, Flodman, Guenzel &
Widger, for appellee.
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McCorMACK, and MILLER-LERMAN, JJ.

McCORMACK, J.
NATURE OF CASE

In October 2000, the Supreme Court of British Columbia,
Canada, issued an original custody determination granting “sole
interim custody” of Steffany L. to her mother, Susan L. In accor-
dance with the order, Susan moved with Steffany to Lincoln,
Nebraska, and they have lived in Nebraska since then. After
Steffany reported sexual abuse by her father, Steven L., dur-
ing visitation in Canada, Susan asked that the district court for
Lancaster County “assume jurisdiction over the final determina-
tion of paternity, custody and support.” Her request was under the
Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction
(Hague Convention), Oct. 25, 1980, T.I.A.S. No. 11,670, 1343
U.N.T.S. 89, as implemented by the International Child Abduction
Remedies Act (ICARA), 42 U.S.C. §§ 11601 to 11611 (2000 &
Supp. 111 2003).

Because the Canadian court refused to cede jurisdiction to
Nebraska, and Steven still resides in British Columbia, the Uniform
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Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act (UCCJEA),
Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 43-1226 to 43-1266 (Reissue 2004), provides
that Nebraska does not have jurisdiction to modify the custody
determination. Susan asserted, however, that the application of
the UCCJEA to bar the district court’s jurisdiction in this case
was preempted by the Hague Convention and that the UCCJEA
violated the Nebraska Constitution in various respects. The dis-
trict court concluded it did not have jurisdiction to modify the
Canadian custody order, and Susan appeals.

BACKGROUND

Susan and Steven were both living in British Columbia when
their relationship resulted in the birth of Steffany on March 19,
1998. Susan and Steven were never married. Steven is a citizen of
Canada, while Susan is a citizen of the United States.

On October 18, 2000, the Supreme Court of British Columbia,
a Canadian trial court of general jurisdiction, issued an “Interim
Order” granting sole interim custody of Steffany to Susan and
allowing Susan to move with Steffany to Nebraska. The court also
specified interim access rights for Steven and various elements
of “interim joint guardianship.” Susan and Steffany have lived in
Lincoln since October 2000.

After returning from visitation with Steven during the spring of
2004, Steffany reported to her therapist various incidents which
led the therapist to believe that Steffany had been sexually abused
by Steven during the visit. The alleged abuse was reported to the
Lincoln Police Department.

The Lincoln police contacted the police department in Delta,
British Columbia, so that it could investigate the allegations of
abuse. The therapist’s report and taped interviews by the Lincoln
police were forwarded to the Delta police. Steven voluntarily sus-
pended Steffany’s scheduled summer visitation. The Delta police
conducted an investigation and, in September 2004, advised that
they were not going to bring criminal charges against Steven.

Susan filed a “Petition for Registration of Foreign Judgment”
with the district court for Lancaster County. Around this same
time, Susan filed a motion with the Supreme Court of British
Columbia, asking the Canadian court to decline to exercise juris-
diction over Steffany in favor of Nebraska. Susan also filed a
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motion with the district court “to assume jurisdiction and sus-
pend visitation.” The motion referred to the pending motion in
Canada and also asserted that recent allegations of abuse war-
ranted the court’s exercise of temporary emergency jurisdiction
under § 43-1241. The parties apparently agreed at that time that
unless the British Columbia court declined jurisdiction, the dis-
trict court would not have jurisdiction over Steffany’s custody.

On November 19, 2004, the Supreme Court of British Columbia
issued an order denying Susan’s motion for the court to decline
jurisdiction. The court noted that there were relevant witnesses
in both countries and that the alleged abuse took place in British
Columbia. The court stated that it could not reach any conclusion
about the veracity of the allegations of abuse based upon the evi-
dence currently before it. Still, the court did modify the existing
access order to provide that Steven and Steffany would not sleep
in the same bedroom and that when Steven was with Steffany,
another adult would always be present. The court also set forth
specific limitations to Susan’s telephone access during Steffany’s
visits with Steven and denied a motion by Steven to increase his
access time. Susan filed an application before the British Columbia
Court of Appeal to appeal the November 19 order.

Relying on the November 19, 2004, order, Steven filed an
objection in the district court for Lancaster County to Susan’s
motion to assume jurisdiction and suspend visitation. The hear-
ing on Susan’s motion to assume jurisdiction and suspend visita-
tion was continued by agreement of the parties. On December
17, Susan filed a motion to assume temporary emergency juris-
diction to prevent Steffany’s upcoming Christmas visitation with
Steven. On December 23, the district court denied the motion, but
visitation did not take place. On February 1, 2005, Steven filed a
motion in the district court to enforce the Canadian custody and
visitation orders.

The British Columbia Court of Appeal, on January 14, 2005,
denied Susan’s motion for leave to appeal the November 19, 2004,
order, explaining that the appeal was merely an attempt to over-
turn the discretionary decision of the trial judge as to whether
British Columbia was the proper forum for future custody issues
relating to Steffany. On February 22, 2005, the district court
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for Lancaster County granted Steven’s motion to enforce the
Canadian visitation orders.

Visitation again took place in the summer of 2005, when
Steffany was 7 years old. Although Steffany had undergone coun-
seling and had a code word to let Susan know if she needed help,
Susan apparently was unable to get any of her calls through to
Steffany during the visit. Steffany was allegedly very upset after
returning to Susan and eventually reported more incidents of sex-
ual abuse by Steven during that visit. The Delta police were again
contacted with regard to the new allegations and were sent copies
of interviews with Steffany and other relevant persons in Nebraska.
Again, the Delta police did not press charges against Steven.

On November 28, 2005, Susan filed in the district court for
Lancaster County a “Complaint to Establish Paternity, Determine
Custody, Set and Define Support and Modify an Interim Order
Issued by the Supreme Court of British Columbia.” On December
16 and 19, Susan filed a motion to “assume jurisdiction” and an
amended motion of the same. Susan alleged that the district court
should assume jurisdiction under the Hague Convention and
should declare § 43-1230(a) and (b) unconstitutional to the extent
that, read in conjunction with § 43-1240(1), the provisions abdi-
cate authority to determine jurisdiction over a child to a court of
a foreign country.

In October 2005, Steven filed an affidavit with the Supreme
Court of British Columbia requesting additional time with
Steffany during Steffany’s Christmas vacation in 2005 and spring
break in 2006. Susan again asked the court to vary the November
19, 2004, order so as to decline jurisdiction over Steffany in favor
of Nebraska. Alternatively, Susan asked the court to cede juris-
diction to Nebraska to adjudicate the “complaint of protection™ of
Steffany and defer determination of jurisdiction over custody and
access until a factual determination on the protection complaint
had been made. Until a final determination of jurisdiction, Susan
asked that Steven’s visitation either be suspended or take place in
Nebraska, supervised by a professional supervision agency. On
December 14, 2005, the Canadian court denied Susan’s applica-
tion. The court granted Steven’s application for additional visita-
tion days and ordered that the supervision provisions contained
in the November 19, 2004, order remain in full force and effect.
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The district court for Lancaster County, on December 22, 2005,
denied Susan’s December 19 amended motion to “assume juris-
diction” to modify custody and visitation. Susan appeals from the
December 22 order.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
Susan asserts that the district court erred in determining (1)
that it did not have jurisdiction over the issues of paternity, cus-
tody, visitation, and support for Steffany; (2) that it did not have
jurisdiction to suspend visitation between Steffany and Steven; (3)
that the UCCJEA was not preempted by the Hague Convention;
and (4) that § 43-1230(a) and (b) is not unconstitutional.

STANDARD OF REVIEW
[1] When a jurisdictional question does not involve a fac-
tual dispute, determination of the issue is a matter of law, which
requires an appellate court to reach a conclusion independent
from that of the trial court. Watson v. Watson, 272 Neb. 647, 724
N.W.2d 24 (2006).

ANALYSIS

Susan appeals the order of the district court finding that it did
not have jurisdiction to modify the terms of the Canadian cus-
tody orders and accordingly could not “assume jurisdiction” pur-
suant to Susan’s motion. The UCCJEA, § 43-1240, provides that
except for temporary emergency jurisdiction under § 43-1241, a
court of this state may not modify a child custody determination
made by a court of another state unless this state would other-
wise have jurisdiction under § 43-1238(a)(1) or (2) and the other
state has lost exclusive continuing jurisdiction under § 43-1239;
the child, the child’s parents, and any person acting as a parent
no longer reside in the other state; or the other state determines
under § 43-1244 that this state would be a more convenient forum.
Under § 43-1230, a court of this state shall treat a foreign country
as if it were a state of the United States for the purpose of apply-
ing §§ 43-1226 to 43-1247, although this state need not apply the
UCCIJEA if the child custody law of a foreign country violates
fundamental principles of human rights.

Steven continues to reside in Canada and maintains a rela-
tionship with Steffany. The Canadian court has declined Susan’s
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requests that it cede jurisdiction to Nebraska as the “more appro-
priate forum.” See § 43-1238(a)(2). There is no dispute that under
the UCCJEA, the Canadian court maintains exclusive continu-
ing jurisdiction over legal custody, physical custody, and visita-
tion with respect to Steffany. See Atchison v. Atchison, 256 Mich.
App. 531, 664 N.W.2d 249 (2003). Susan does not claim that
Canadian custody law violates fundamental human rights, and, in
fact, it appears that Susan has not sought in the Canadian courts a
full hearing on the alleged abuse. The issue presented is whether
the Hague Convention or the Nebraska Constitution prohibits the
application of the UCCJEA jurisdictional provisions which give
the Canadian court exclusive jurisdiction over custody determina-
tions involving Steffany. We conclude that they do not.

PREEMPTION

We first address Susan’s argument that the UCCJEA provisions
are preempted by the Hague Convention and its implementing law,
the ICARA. We find no merit to Susan’s preemption argument
because we simply do not find either the Hague Convention or the
ICARA applicable to this case. Because the Hague Convention
and the ICARA do not concern the controversy presently before
us, the issue of preemption does not arise.

As explained in 42 U.S.C. § 11601(a)(4) of the ICARA, the
Hague Convention establishes legal rights and procedures for the
prompt return of children who have been wrongfully removed or
retained, as well as for securing the exercise of visitation rights.
Section 11603(b) provides that “[a]ny person seeking to initi-
ate judicial proceedings under the [Hague] Convention for the
return of a child or for arrangements for organizing or securing
the effective exercise of rights of access to a child may do so by
commencing a civil action . . . .” Section 11603 (a) grants state and
federal district courts concurrent original jurisdiction to hear such
actions. But no action concerning Steffany has been commenced
under the Hague Convention.

[2-4] Because she is neither the plaintiff nor the defendant in
an action under the Hague Convention, Susan’s preemption argu-
ment rests on the alleged “underlying [premise]” of the Hague
Convention that custody disputes be decided in the child’s place
of “‘habitual residence’” and its “foremost commitment” to
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“safeguard children from grave risk of harm.” Brief for appel-
lant at 14, 16. Susan is correct that “habitual residence” is a term
often employed in the Hague Convention. The Hague Convention
speaks of wrongful removal or retention in terms of the law of
the state in which the child was habitually resident immediately
before the removal or retention. The Hague Convention seeks to
establish procedures to ensure a child’s prompt return to the state
of his or her “habitual residence” where removed or retained there-
from. See Hague Convention, preamble. The Hague Convention is
applicable to any child “habitually resident” in a contracting state
immediately before any breach of custody or access rights. Hague
Convention, art. 3a. But nowhere does the Hague Convention
seek to establish a child’s “habitual residence” as a general juris-
dictional mandate for custody disputes. To the contrary, as stated
in 42 U.S.C. § 11601(b)(4), “The [Hague] Convention and this
chapter empower courts in the United States to determine only
rights under the [Hague] Convention and not the merits of any
underlying child custody claims.”

[5,6] Nor do we find the Hague Convention’s commitment to
“safeguard children from grave risk of harm” to have any applica-
bility here. The safeguard to which Susan refers is found in arti-
cle 13 of the Hague Convention, which states, “Notwithstanding
the provisions [providing for return of the child], the judicial or
administrative authority . . . is not bound to order the return of
the child if . . . there is a grave risk that his or her return would
expose the child to physical or psychological harm.” Essentially,
grave risk of harm is an affirmative defense to the return of the
child. See, Cantor v. Cohen, 442 F.3d 196 (4th Cir. 2006); Baxter
v. Baxter, 423 F.3d 363 (3rd Cir. 2005). Again, Susan is not a
respondent to any action for return of the child under the Hague
Convention, and therefore, any grave risk defense is inapplicable.
The Hague Convention makes no statement as to the relevancy
of grave risk of harm in deciding jurisdiction or the appropri-
ate forum for resolution of custody issues involving a child not
wrongfully removed or retained.

Steffany simply does not fall within the purview of the Hague
Convention or the ICARA. As such, we do not consider whether
any portion of that law preempts the jurisdictional mandates of
the UCCJEA. We affirm the district court’s conclusion that the
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Hague Convention and the ICARA do not impede the court’s
adherence to the UCCJEA in this case.

CONSTITUTIONALITY

Susan also asserts that the UCCJEA should not have been fol-
lowed by the district court because the UCCJEA’s jurisdictional
provisions are unconstitutional. Susan asserts that the UCCJEA
effectively grants “veto power over the exercise of Nebraska
jurisdiction” to a foreign country, limiting Nebraska’s chancery
jurisdiction over the protection of children in a manner that lacks
uniformity and provides no mechanism for a parent to challenge
the foreign court’s decision. Brief for appellant at 20. This, Susan
contends, violates article V, §§ 1, 9, and 19, of the Nebraska
Constitution and the right of due process found in article I.

NEB. CONST. ART. V, §§ 1 AND 9

Neb. Const. art. V, § 1, states in relevant part:

The judicial power of the state shall be vested in a Supreme
Court, an appellate court, district courts, county courts, in
and for each county, with one or more judges for each county
or with one judge for two or more counties, as the Legislature
shall provide, and such other courts inferior to the Supreme
Court as may be created by law.

Neb. Const. art. V, § 9, states in relevant part: “The district
courts shall have both chancery and common law jurisdiction,
and such other jurisdiction as the Legislature may provide . .. .”

[7] Susan points out that these two sections combine to grant
chancery (equity) jurisdiction to district courts and that child cus-
tody is within the purview of that jurisdiction. See, e.g., Drennen
v. Drennen, 229 Neb. 204, 426 N.W.2d 252 (1988); Schleuter v.
McCuiston, 203 Neb. 101, 277 N.W.2d 667 (1979); Wassung v.
Wassung, 136 Neb. 440, 286 N.W. 340 (1939). This court has said
that the jurisdiction of the district courts conferred by the terms of
the Nebraska Constitution, as thus conferred, is beyond the power
of the Legislature to limit or control; while the Legislature may
grant to the district courts such other jurisdiction as it may deem
proper, it cannot limit or take away from such courts their broad
and general jurisdiction which the constitution has conferred
upon them. See, K N Energy, Inc. v. City of Scottsbluff, 233 Neb.
644, 447 N.W.2d 227 (1989); Miller v. Janecek, 210 Neb. 316, 314
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N.W.2d 250 (1982); John A. Creighton Home v. Waltman, 140
Neb. 3, 299 N.W. 261 (1941); State, ex rel. Wright, v. Barney, 133
Neb. 676, 276 N.-W. 676 (1937); Lacey v. Zeigler, 98 Neb. 380,
152 N.W. 792 (1915). Susan argues that by limiting the district
court’s jurisdiction to modify a child custody order, the UCCJEA
has improperly encroached upon the inherent powers granted by
the constitution.

The proposition that the Legislature cannot limit or take away
the broad and general jurisdiction of the district courts, as con-
ferred by the Nebraska Constitution, has most often been invoked
when a legislative enactment has sought to give exclusive, original
jurisdiction over a chancery or common-law class of cases to the
county courts or to an administrative agency or agent. See, e.g.,
Drennen v. Drennen, supra; Village of Springfield v. Hevelone,
195 Neb. 37, 236 N.W.2d 811 (1975); In re Trust Estate of Myers,
151 Neb. 255, 37 N.W.2d 228 (1949); Hoover v. Haller, 146 Neb.
697, 21 N.W.2d 450 (1946); Cox v. Johnston, 139 Neb. 223, 296
N.W. 883 (1941); Clark v. Lincoln Liberty Life Ins. Co., 139
Neb. 65, 296 N.W. 449 (1941); State, ex rel. Sorensen, v. State
Bank of Minatare, 123 Neb. 109, 242 N.W. 278 (1932); Lacey v.
Zeigler, supra. The proposition has also been decisive where the
Legislature has sought to limit the district court’s inherent con-
tempt powers. See State ex rel. Beck v. Frontier Airlines, Inc., 174
Neb. 172, 116 N.W.2d 281 (1962). The proposition has never been
applied to find unconstitutional provisions such as those presented
in this case.

[8,9] The term “jurisdiction,” as used in Neb. Const. art. V, § 9,
denotes the concept of legal power to interpret and administer
the law in the premises. State, ex rel. Wright v. Barney, supra. We
have previously explained that the constitutional grant of jurisdic-
tion to the district court, while original, is not exclusive. Village of
Springfield v. Hevelone, supra; In re Estate of Steppuhn, 221 Neb.
329, 377 NW.2d 83 (1985). In In re Estate of Steppuhn, supra,
we considered whether a statutory provision granting to county
courts subject matter jurisdiction over probate matters involving
chancery or common law was unconstitutional. We explained that
both the district court and the county court could possess the same
original jurisdiction, although they could not both exercise exclu-
sive jurisdiction. We concluded: “In considering the difference
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between exclusive and original, the apparent conflict between the
jurisdiction of the county court and the district court vanishes.”
Id. at 332, 377 N.W.2d at 85.

[10,11] Our common-law jurisprudence recognized the “funda-
mental” proposition that “where courts have concurrent jurisdic-
tion, the first to assume jurisdiction retains it to the exclusion of
the other.” McFarland v. State, 172 Neb. 251, 256, 109 N.W.2d
397, 401-02 (1961). See, also, State, ex rel. Sorensen, v. Mitchell
Irrigation District, 129 Neb. 586, 262 N.W. 543 (1935); Fitzgerald
v. Fitzgerald & Mallory Construction Co., 44 Neb. 463, 62 N.W.
899 (1895). Sections 43-1230 and 43-1240 do not deprive the dis-
trict court of its broad and general original jurisdiction over child
custody. Rather, they simply codify rules related to the exercise of
that jurisdiction where there is concurrent jurisdiction with another
court. We accordingly find no merit to Susan’s argument that these
provisions violate §§ 1 and 9 of the Nebraska Constitution.

NEB. CoNsT. ART. V, § 19

Susan next argues that leaving our court’s power to modify
contingent upon a foreign court’s decision whether to cede juris-
diction violates the mandate of Neb. Const. art. V, § 19. Section 19
provides that all courts of the same class or grade in this state be
uniform. In State v. Magney, 52 Neb. 508, 72 N.W. 1006 (1897),
we explained that the mandate of article V, § 19, is that the juris-
diction and powers conferred upon a justice, county, or district
court of one county can be neither more nor less than given the
court of the same class in any other county.

[12] We conclude that because the UCCJEA is uniformly appli-
cable to all district courts of the same class, there is no violation
of Neb. Const. art. V, § 19. Such uniformity is not changed by the
fact that the UCCJEA (uniformly) disallows those courts from
modifying another jurisdiction’s original custody order absent
certain circumstances. This is so even where one of those cir-
cumstances is the exercise of the foreign court’s discretion. The
fact that the exercise of discretion will not be strictly homoge-
neous does create a lack of uniformity in the constitutional sense.
See State v. Lotter, 255 Neb. 456, 586 N.W.2d 591 (1998) (reject-
ing argument that discretion with sentencing judge violated Neb.
Const. art. V, § 19). Regardless of the ability to ensure uniformity
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among courts of foreign nations in their deliberative process to
determine whether to cede jurisdiction, the courts of this state are
uniform in their powers upon such deliberation. Susan’s conten-
tion that the UCCJEA violates article V, § 19, of the Nebraska
Constitution is likewise without merit.

NEB. ConsT. ART. I, § 3

Finally, Susan asserts that her rights of due process and equal
protection under Neb. Const. art. I, § 3, are violated by the UCCJEA
because “there is no mechanism for a parent such as Susan . . .
to be heard in order to challenge the refusal of the foreign court
to give its blessing and approval to the district court’s exercise
of the jurisdiction.” Brief for appellant at 22. Section 43-1230(c)
provides that “[a] court of this state need not apply the act if the
child custody law of a foreign country violates fundamental prin-
ciples of human rights.”

[13] To protect Susan’s due process rights, due process need not
take place in Nebraska. Susan makes no claim that the Canadian
courts have failed to afford her due process. Certainly, there is
not an innate due process violation due to the fact that a Canadian
appellate court would be reviewing a lower court’s decision from
its own country. We find no violation of Susan’s rights under Neb.
Const. art. I in the district court’s application of the UCCJEA in
this case.

CONCLUSION
We affirm the district court’s conclusion that pursuant to
§§ 43-1239 and 43-1240, the Canadian courts have exclusive con-
tinuing jurisdiction over child custody determinations concerning
Steffany and that it could not “assume jurisdiction” to modify the
Canadian orders.
AFFIRMED.
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1. DNA Testing: Appeal and Error. A motion for DNA testing is addressed to the
discretion of the trial court, and unless an abuse of discretion is shown, the trial
court’s determination will not be disturbed.

2. :____.Inanappeal from a proceeding under the DNA Testing Act, Neb. Rev.
Stat. §§ 29-4116 through 29-4125 (Cum. Supp. 2006), the trial court’s findings of
fact will be upheld unless such findings are clearly erroneous.

3. : . Decisions regarding appointment of counsel under the DNA Testing
Act are reviewed for an abuse of discretion.

Appeal from the District Court for Madison County: PATRICK G.
RoGERs, Judge. Affirmed.
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WRIGHT, CONNOLLY, STEPHAN, McCCORMACK, and MILLER-LERMAN,
JJ.

WRIGHT, J.
NATURE OF CASE

David C. Phelps was convicted and sentenced to life imprison-
ment for the 1987 kidnapping of Jill Cutshall. In accordance with
the DNA Testing Act, Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 29-4116 through 29-4125
(Cum. Supp. 2006), Phelps seeks DNA testing of certain items of
Cutshall’s clothing found by a hunter in a wooded area 3 months
after her disappearance. Phelps claims the clothing may contain
biological evidence with DNA from a male individual other than
himself and would therefore be exculpatory and material to his
case. He appeals the district court’s denial of his motion for DNA
testing and his request for court-appointed counsel.

SCOPE OF REVIEW
[1-3] A motion for DNA testing is addressed to the discretion of
the trial court, and unless an abuse of discretion is shown, the trial
court’s determination will not be disturbed. State v. Dean, 270
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Neb. 972, 708 N.W.2d 640 (2006). In an appeal from a proceed-
ing under the DNA Testing Act, the trial court’s findings of fact
will be upheld unless such findings are clearly erroneous. State v.
Poe, 271 Neb. 858, 717 N.W.2d 463 (2006). Decisions regarding
appointment of counsel under the DNA Testing Act are reviewed
for an abuse of discretion. /d.

FACTS

Cutshall disappeared on August 13, 1987; she has never been
found. The morning of Cutshall’s disappearance, her father and
stepmot